ORIGINAL  
ORIGINAL

**RECEIVED**

JAN 04 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Florence County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEMETRIK MAURICE CEASER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000176  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Florence County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

---

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the court err by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence (CDV) when there was evidence upon which the jury could have found Appellant committed only the lesser offense instead of the indicted offense of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN)?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Florence County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the July 10, 2014 term of the Court of General Sessions for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN), second degree assault and battery, and unlawful conduct towards a child. R. 242. His case was called to trial on January 19, 2016 before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Catherine Wyse and Lauren Hummel represented the state, and Daniel Jordan represented Appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief, the court directed a verdict of acquittal for unlawful conduct towards a child. R. 136, l. 17 – 137, l. 23. On January 20, 2016, the jury acquitted Appellant of second degree assault and battery and the lesser included offense of third degree assault and battery, but found him guilty of CDVHAN. R. 231, l. 20 – 232, l. 13. Judge Cooper sentenced Appellant to three years imprisonment. R. 240, ll. 1-5.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the afternoon of March 29, 2014, Kerile Thomas and her mother, Carol Gerald, drove to Appellant's house in Florence to drop off Appellant and Kerile's one year old daughter, Minor, so that she could visit with her father. Appellant and Kerile had dated for a couple of years and lived together until they ultimately separated in February 2014. When they separated, Kerile and Minor moved out of the house they had shared with Appellant.

The three arrived at Appellant's house that afternoon unannounced and, because he was not expecting to watch Minor that day, Appellant had no food in the house for the child. Appellant gave Kerile his debit card and, after leaving Minor with Appellant, Kerile and Carol drove to KFC and purchased chicken and a drink for Minor.

When Kerile and Carol returned to the house, Appellant went outside to meet them while holding Minor. Kerile got out of the car and handed the food to Appellant. The two then began to argue. Kerile was upset because she suspected Appellant had a woman inside the house based on how he was acting and the fact that he refused to allow her to enter the home. R. 22, ll. 1-17. During the argument, Appellant asked for a receipt from KFC and eventually retrieved the receipt from the floor of the car near the front passenger seat. R. 22, l. 18 – 23, l. 3. This further angered Kerile, who did not want Appellant near her car since he would not allow her to enter his house. R. 22, l. 18 – 23, l. 2. The accounts of what occurred after vary.

Appellant testified that “when [he] came back up” from getting the receipt, Kerile, who was approximately the same weight as Appellant, “started hitting [him] with her hip”

and then pushed him in the chest.<sup>1</sup> In return, Appellant “squeezed” the drink that was sitting on top of the car and “what was left in the cup [he] threw on her [Kerile].” R. 146, l. 15 – 147, l. 6. Kerile then struck Appellant and he struck her once in return. After Appellant struck Kerile, Carol, who was two hundred and thirty pounds and much larger than Appellant, got out of the car and “ran straight at [Appellant].” Carol threw her shoe at Appellant and then started grabbing his shirt and hitting him. Appellant, who was still holding Minor, struck Carol to try to stop the attack. Appellant testified he struck Carol because he was “fearful for his daughter,” who he was still holding. R. 147, l. 7 – 150, l. 25. He maintained that he struck both women in order to protect himself and his daughter. R. 151, ll. 5-12.

Kerile, who admitted the two began to argue because she suspected Appellant had another woman inside the house, claimed she could not remember anything that happened after Appellant opened her car door and retrieved the receipt. She testified that she recalled trying to “knock the cup out of [her] face” and “a lot of fruit punch in [her] hair,” but the “next thing [she] remember[ed] is . . . it was dark.” R. 23, l. 2 – 24, l. 2. Kerile claimed that she “blacked out” and that Appellant “knocked [her] unconscious.” R. 41, ll. 19-20; R. 43, ll. 9-12. However, she did not remember Appellant striking her nor did she witness the altercation between Appellant and her mother, Carol. R. 45, ll. 3-14. Kerile claimed she never hit or struck Appellant. R. 45, ll. 15-24.

According to Carol, after Appellant retrieved the receipt from the car, he threw the drink in Kerile’s face and punched her. R. 59, l. 21 – 62, l. 16. Carol admitted she then got

---

<sup>1</sup> Kerile was one hundred and sixty-seven pounds. R. 246-262. This Court may take judicial notice that Appellant is one hundred and sixty-six pounds according to the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) website.

out of the car and began attacking Appellant. She threw her shoe at him and grabbed his shirt and refused to let go until it ripped. R. 62, l. 18 – 64, l. 15.

Kerile was treated at McLeod Regional Medical Center shortly after the altercation. She had a small laceration on her cheek that required a single suture and a fractured cheekbone. R. 117, l. 16 – 118, l. 2; R. 246-262. Kerile remained at the hospital for less than three hours before she was discharged. R. 246-262. The fractured cheekbone required no treatment. Kerile was merely prescribed pain medication. R. 34, ll. 2-8.

Based on Appellant's testimony, the court charged the jury on self-defense. R. 219, l. 21 – 223, l. 2. The jury ultimately acquitted Appellant of second and third degree assault and battery related to Carol, but convicted him of CDVHAN. R. 231, l. 20 – 232, l. 13.

## ARGUMENT

The court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence (CDV) when there was evidence upon which the jury could have found Appellant committed only the lesser offense instead of the indicted offense of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN).

### **Relevant Facts**

Defense counsel requested a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of CDV. He argued it was for the jury to determine whether Kerile's injuries constituted "serious bodily injury." R. 175, ll. 10-25.

Citing State v. Golston, 399 S.C. 393, 732 S.E.2d 175 (Ct. App. 2012), the court refused to charge the jury on the lesser included offense of CDV "since there is clearly bodily injury." R. 171, ll. 15-24; R. 176, ll. 10-14. Defense counsel made his objection to the court's ruling clear. R. 178, ll. 3-5.

### **Discussion**

The court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of CDV since it was for the jury to determine whether Kerile's injuries constituted "serious bodily injury" as a CDVHAN conviction required. There was evidence upon which the jury could have found Appellant committed only the lesser offense of CDV.

A person is guilty of CDV when the state proves he (1) "cause[d] physical harm or injury to [his] own household member" or (2) offer[ed] or attempt[ed] to cause physical harm or injury to [his] own household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20(A) (2012); State v. Golston, 399 S.C. 393, 397, 732 S.E.2d 175,178 (Ct. App. 2012). A person

is guilty of CDVHAN when, in addition to proving CDV, the state proves one of the aggravating circumstances set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-65(A) (2012). Golston, 399 S.C. at 397, 732 S.E.2d at 178. The aggravating circumstances include (1) “an assault and battery which involves the use of a deadly weapon or results in serious bodily injury to the victim” and (2) “an assault, with or without an accompanying battery, which would reasonably cause a person to fear imminent serious bodily injury or death.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-65(A) (2012).

“Serious bodily injury” is not defined in the statute. However, it is defined in another section of the Code as “a physical condition which creates a substantial risk of death, serious personal disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-400(A)(2); See Golston, 399 S.C. at 399 n.6, 732 S.E.2d at 179 n.6.

“In most prosecutions for CDVHAN, there will be evidence the defendant committed acts which constitute only CDV in addition to acts which constitute CDVHAN.” Golston, 399 S.C. at 397, 732 S.E.2d at 178. The “task of the trial court in deciding whether to charge the lesser offense, and of this court reviewing that decision on appeal, is to examine the record to determine if there is evidence upon which the jury could find the defendant was guilty of the lesser offense, but not guilty of the greater offense.” Golston, 399 S.C. at 398, 732 S.E.2d at 178. “[A] trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence.” State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993) (citing Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 410 S.E.2d. 572 (1991)).

In Golston, this Court held “the existence of evidence that Golston committed simple CDV in addition to CDVHAN does not warrant the charge [of CDV]. There must be evidence from which the jury could conclude the defendant committed only the lesser offense.” Id. at 398, 732 S.E.2d at 178 (citing State v. Brown, 269 S.C. 491, 495-496, 238 S.E.2d 174, 176 (1977)).

This Court found the victim’s injuries in Golston, which included swelling to her face that was so severe her son could not recognize her and permanent injury to her eyes that required her to wear glasses for the first time, “cannot possibly be found not to be serious.” Id. at 399, 732 S.E.2d at 179. The victim, who suffered a severe beating with numerous blows to the face, had difficulty breathing and feeding herself for several days and could not open one of her eyes for ten days. Id. Because the Court found there was “no evidence to support a conclusion that the victim did not suffer serious bodily injury,” it held “it was not possible for the jury to find Golston guilty of CDV instead of CDVHAN” and thus the trial court properly refused to charge the lesser offense. Id. at 400, 732 S.E.2d at 179 (internal quotation marks omitted).

This Court did not decide whether the definition of “serious bodily injury” found in S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-400(A)(2) applies to subsection 16-25-65(A)(1). Golston, 399 S.C. at 399 n.6, 732 S.E.2d at 179 n.6. However, the Court noted that if this definition did apply, it did “not believe there [was] any evidence in the record that the victim’s injuries [did] not meet that definition, as she suffered temporary serious disfigurement to her face, protracted loss of the use of her eyes from the swelling, and permanent impairment of vision.” Id.

Here, unlike Golston, it is possible the jury could have found Kerile's injuries were not serious. By all accounts, Kerile suffered a single moderate blow to the left cheek that did not cause any permanent injury or disfigurement. She suffered a "simple" laceration that was only three millimeters long and a fractured cheekbone for which she received no treatment besides a prescription for pain medication. Moreover, her hospital stay was less than three hours. R. 246-262. Based on this evidence, the jury could have found Kerile's injuries did not constitute "serious bodily injury" and convicted Appellant of the lesser offense of CDV.<sup>2</sup>

Furthermore, if the jury had considered the definition of "serious bodily injury" found in S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-400(A)(2), it could not possibly have found Kerile's injuries were "serious." A fractured cheekbone is not a "physical condition which creates a substantial risk of death" nor did this injury cause "serious personal disfigurement" or any "protracted loss or impairment." Kerile merely had temporary pain, which she rated as a "seven" on a scale from one to ten when she was hospitalized, that was treated with medication. R. 246-262.

Significantly, during its nearly three hour deliberation, the jury requested the court provide it with the written definition of CDVHAN. R. 227, l. 21 – 230, l. 9; See R. 263. This shows the jury struggled with determining Appellant's guilt on the indicted offense.

Because there was evidence from which the jury could have concluded Appellant committed only the lesser offense, the trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on CDV as a lesser included offense of CDVHAN.