ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000176

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DEMETRIK MAURICE CEASER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

E. L. Clements, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000176

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The record amply supports the circuit court's determination the evidence did not support a jury charge on criminal domestic violence as a lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In July 2015, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Demetrik Maurice Ceaser on one count of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (CDVHAN), one count of second degree assault and battery, and one count of unlawful conduct toward a child, arising from an altercation on March 29, 2014.¹ The matter was called for a jury trial on January 19, 2016, before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge.

Kerile Thomas (“Victim”) testified she lived with Appellant for approximately a year (February 2013 – February 2014), and they had a daughter together. On March 29, 2014, Victim and her mother (“Mother”) took the child over to Appellant’s home so he could spend time with her. Appellant indicated he did not have any food for the child, so he gave Victim his debit card to go pick up some food. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 94-103; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 10-19).

When Victim and Mother returned with food and a drink for the child, Victim got out of the car and placed the drink on top of the car while she got the food out. Appellant came outside to the car and demanded the debit card receipt, which was laying inside the car. When Appellant started to open the car door, Victim told him not to touch her car. Appellant suddenly picked up the drink and threw it in Victim’s face. She swung at the cup to knock it away from her face and Appellant hit her in the face, knocking her to the ground and rendering her unconscious. (TT, pp. 103-108; R., pp. 19-24).

When Victim started regaining consciousness, she was still on the ground and her head hurt, but she could hear the child crying, so she crawled over to the child and got her inside the car. She then saw “a lot of blood” on Mother, so they immediately got in the car and left.

¹ The circuit court directed a verdict in Appellant’s favor on the unlawful conduct of a child charge, and the jury acquitted him on the second degree assault and battery charge. Therefore, those charges are not at issue in this appeal.

Victim drove while Mother called 911. They drove to a Walmart parking lot, and then to a bowling alley parking lot until they were notified the police were at Appellant's house and wanted them to return to the house. (TT, pp. 108-116; R., pp. 24-32).

After meeting with the police, Victim was transported by ambulance to the hospital, where it was determined she had a fractured cheekbone, facial lacerations and contusions resulting from blunt force trauma to the face. She testified she continued to suffer from bad headaches and a painful mouth related to the injuries she sustained. (TT, pp. 116-118, State's Exhibits 2-12; R., pp. 32-34).²

Mother corroborated Victim's account of what happened leading up to and including Appellant's punch to Victim's face. Mother testified she got out of the car and went around to help Victim, but Appellant threatened her so she threw her shoe at him. The shoe missed Appellant, so she grabbed his shirt while he punched her in the face. She eventually fell to the ground and Appellant started kicking her. (TT, pp. 141-149; R., pp. 57-65).

After Mother got up, she saw Victim was holding the child, and they left. Mother called 911 as they drove away, and they waited in a parking lot until the police notified them they were at the scene. The police advised Mother they needed her and Victim to return to Appellant's house, so they drove back over there. (TT, pp. 149-154; R., pp. 65-70).

Mother was also transported to the hospital by ambulance. She sustained a fractured eye socket, a laceration on her face that required stitches, and another facial laceration that was glued shut. She also sustained bruises on her shoulder. (TT, pp. 154-161; R., pp. 70-77).

² The photographic exhibits will be transported to the Court for consideration.

Police officers testified regarding the investigation and Appellant's arrest. The emergency room physician testified regarding Victim's and Mother's injuries. (TT, pp. 180-219; R., pp. 96-135).

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, the circuit court denied Appellant's directed verdict motion as to the CDVHAN and second degree assault and battery charges. The court then granted the motion as to the unlawful conduct toward a child charge. (TT, pp. 219-225; R., pp. 135-137).

Appellant testified he and Victim had violent arguments during their relationship, stating Victim always initiated the violence. He further stated Victim moved out of their home the day after a particularly violent episode, claiming she just started hitting him over some text messages she misinterpreted. (TT, pp. 231-236; R., pp. 138-143).

Appellant stated he did not know Victim was bringing the child over to his house on the day of the incident, and he gave her his debit card to go get some food. After Victim returned, Appellant bent down into the car to get the receipt, and stated Victim started hitting him with her hip and then punched him in the chest when he straightened up. At that point, Appellant squeezed the drink cup that was on top of the car and "what was left in the cup [he] threw on her." He testified Victim then hit him, and he struck her one time in response. (TT, pp. 236-240; R., pp. 143-147).

Appellant further testified Mother came at him after he struck Victim, and he punched her three times in the face to get her off of him and protect his daughter. He also testified he kicked Mother after she fell down because she was holding his shirt. (TT, pp. 240-244, 260; R., pp. 147-151, 167).

During discussions regarding jury charges, the circuit court agreed to charge the law of self-defense, but declined to charge simple CDV as a lesser included of CDVHAN, finding the evidence did not support the CDV charge. (TT, pp. 265-273; R., pp. 170-178). After the jury charges, Appellant renewed his objection to the exclusion of the CDV jury charge. (TT, pp. 320-321; R., pp. 225-226).

The jury convicted Appellant on the CDVHAN charge, but acquitted him on the second degree assault charge, and the circuit court sentenced him to three years incarceration. (TT, pp. 326-335; R., pp. 231-240). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

The record amply supports the circuit court's determination the evidence did not support a jury charge on criminal domestic violence as a lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for a jury charge on the lesser included offense of CDV because there was evidence from which the jury could have found Victim's injuries did not constitute a "serious bodily injury" as required for CDVHAN. This contention ignores a significant portion of the statute, and glosses over evidence regarding Victim's injuries.

"The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial," and "due process requires that a lesser included offense instruction be given *only* when the evidence warrants such an instruction." Cook v. State, 415 S.C. 551, 784 S.E.2d 665, 669 (2015) (emphasis in original) (internal citations omitted). The jury charge determination is committed to the trial court's discretion, and appellate courts will not reverse the trial court's jury charge decisions absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Wright, 416 S.C. 353, 785 S.E.2d 479, 490 (Ct. App. 2016).

In order to convict a person of CDV, the State must prove the person either "cause[d] physical harm or injury to [his] own household member," or "offer[ed] or attempt[ed] to cause physical harm or injury to [his] own household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-65(A) and (B) (2015). If, in addition to proving CDV, the State proves one of the aggravating circumstances set forth in subsection §16-25-65(A)(1), such as that the defendant's conduct "result[ed] in serious bodily injury to the victim," the person is guilty of CDVHAN. State v. Golston, 399 S.C. 393, 732 S.E.2d 175, 178 (Ct. App. 2012).

In most prosecutions for CDVHAN, there will be evidence the defendant committed acts which constitute only CDV in addition to acts which constitute CDVHAN, but the mere existence of evidence the defendant committed the CDV acts does not warrant a jury charge on simple CDV. *Id.* “Rather, to warrant a jury charge on the lesser offense, the evidence viewed as a whole must be such that the jury could conclude the defendant is guilty of the lesser offense *instead of* the indicted offense.” *Id.* (emphasis in original).

In this case, Appellant argues Victim did not sustain “serious bodily injury,” and therefore, the circuit court erred in denying his request for a CDV jury charge. The fallacy of this argument is two-fold: 1) Appellant glosses over a significant part of the applicable statute and minimizes the evidence of Victim’s injuries; and 2) he relies on a definition of “serious bodily injury” from a completely separate section of the South Carolina Code, without any indication the legislature intended that definition to apply to CDVHAN.

The CDVHAN statute provides a person “commits the offense, with or without an accompanying battery and under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, and would reasonably cause a person to fear imminent great bodily injury or death.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-65(A)(2) (2015) (emphasis added). Notwithstanding Appellant’s classification of his action as a “moderate blow” and Victim’s injuries as “simple,” punching a person so hard in the face it knocks her unconscious (even briefly) and fractures her cheekbone, clearly manifests “extreme indifference to the value of human life,” and “would reasonably cause a person to fear imminent great bodily injury or death.”³

³Appellant attempts to minimize his conduct by pointing to Victim’s weight versus his weight. Even assuming Appellant weighed the same on the day of the attack as he did the day he entered prison, weight does not equal or indicate strength, and simply comparing the weight of Appellant and Victim does not account for the advantage of a surprise attack.

By way of footnote, Appellant asserts Victim “never testified that she ‘feared imminent serious bodily injury or death.’” (Brief of Appellant, p. 11, n. 2). Once again, Appellant misses the point. The mere fact he was able to catch Victim off guard with the blow and render her momentarily unconscious, in part by throwing a drink in her face just prior to inflicting the blow, and she could not recall specifics of the attack, does not alleviate the viciousness of Appellant’s action, or lead to the indisputable conclusion Victim could not fear imminent serious bodily injury, which the State contends she had already sustained.⁴ If his argument is accepted, a defendant can escape penalty for CDVHAN by merely knocking the victim unconscious, thereby rendering her unable to testify regarding the circumstances surrounding the attack.

Appellant also attempts to avoid the consequences of his action by relying on a definition of “serious bodily injury” found in S.C. Code §23-31-400 (2007). Title 23, Chapter 31, Article 6 involves the use of a firearm while under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance. For purposes of Article 6, “[s]erious bodily injury” means a physical condition which creates a substantial risk of death, serious personal disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.” S.C. Code Ann. §23-31-400(A)(2) (2007).

The defendant in Golston also attempted to use this definition in arguing he was entitled to a CDV jury charge. By way of footnote, this Court declined to rule the definition applied to CDVHAN, but found the victim’s injuries met the definition even if it applied. 732 S.E.2d at 179, n. 6. While Appellant correctly indicates the victim’s injuries in Golston were more serious than Victim’s injuries, a mere comparison of severity does not render Victim’s injuries insignificant.

⁴ In fact, Victim’s injuries may well have been worse but for the intervention of her mother.

In asserting the jury could not possibly have found Victim's injuries serious as defined in §23-31-400(A)(2) because she suffered only temporary pain treated with medication and spent only three hours in the hospital emergency room, Appellant mischaracterizes and ignores the evidence. Contrary to his assertion, the **undisputed** evidence indicated Victim was **still** suffering the side effects of her injuries approximately two years after the attack when the case was tried. Victim testified she was supposed to see a specialist and have surgery related to her fractured cheekbone, but had not been able to afford it. She further testified she continued to suffer from "really, really, really bad headaches" and her mouth hurt, all of which was also related to her facial injuries.⁵ (TT, pp. 117-118; R., pp. 33-34). Appellant presented no evidence, medical or otherwise, to contradict her testimony.

Appellant's contention the jury's request for a written CDVHAN charge somehow evidences a struggle with determining guilt that supports his assertions is likewise unavailing. The jury did not ask for a definition of "serious bodily injury," or ask that the medical testimony be replayed, which might indicate some confusion about what constituted "serious bodily injury." There is no evidence in the record that the jury was struggling with the issue of whether Victim's injuries were sufficiently serious under the statute. As evidenced by Appellant's acquittal of charges related to Victim's mother, the jury would not have hesitated to find for Appellant on the CDVHAN charge if it found Victim's injuries did not constitute "serious bodily injury."

In light of the extent and severity of Victim's injuries, the circuit court properly determined the evidence did not support a jury charge on simple CDV. Accordingly, the circuit

⁵Appellant makes much of the medical reference to the cause of Victim's facial injuries, including the fracture, lacerations and contusions, as "moderate" blunt force trauma to her face. As the circuit court found, however, the blow "had pretty severe consequences regardless of the - of the degree of the blow." (TT, p. 270; R., p. 175).

court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request for such a charge, and its ruling should be affirmed.